FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/3/2023
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

101689-1

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
2/2/2023 4:12 PM

No. 83200-0-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JEREMY CONKLIN, DO, an individual,

Petitioner,

v.

UNIVERSITY OF WASHINGTON SCHOOL OF MEDICINE, a Washington public educational institution; UNIVERSITY OF WASHINGTON MEDICINE, a Washington public health system; and UNIVERSITY OF WASHINGTON MEDICAL CENTER, a Washington public hospital,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Aaron P. Orheim WSBA #47670 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
E.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED		
	(1)	The PRA Requires an Agency to Produce Records in a Timely Manner, and Ensuring Timely Access to Public Records Is an Issue of Substantial Public Importance	
	(2)	Division I's Opinion Either Conflicts with Precedent or New Precedent Is Needed to Ensure Agencies Begin Responding More Promptly Than 917, 307, or 206 Days	
F.	CONCLUSION30		
Appe	endix		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>Page</u>
Table of Cases
Washington Cases
Amren v. City of Kalama,
131 Wn.2d 25, 929 P.2d 389 (1997)14, 15
Andrews v. Washington State Patrol,
183 Wn. App. 644, 334 P.3d 94 (2014)
Cantu v. Yakima Sch. Dist. No. 7,
23 Wn. App. 2d 57, 514 P.3d 661 (2022)21
Doe G v. Dep't of Corr.,
190 Wn.2d 185, 410 P.3d 1156 (2018)12
Forbes v. City of Gold Bar,
171 Wn. App. 857, 288 P.3d 384 (2012)24, 25, 26
Health Pros Nw., Inc. v. State,
10 Wn. App. 2d 605, 449 P.3d 303 (2019),
review denied, 194 Wn.2d 1025 (2020)
Hikel v. City of Lynnwood,
197 Wn. App. 366, 389 P.3d 677 (2016)22
Rental Hous. Ass'n v. City of Des Moines,
165 Wn.2d 525, 199 P.3d 393 (2009)
Rufin v. City of Seattle,
199 Wn. App. 348, 398 P.3d 1237 (2017),
review denied, 189 Wn.2d 1034 (2018)8, 16, 26
Seattle Times Co. v. Ishikawa,
97 Wn.2d 30, 640 P.2d 716 (1982)
Spokane Research & Def. Fund v. City of Spokane,
155 Wn.2d 89, 117 P.3d 1117 (2005)
Twin Harbors Fish & Wildlife Advoc. v. Wash. Dep't of
Fish & Wildlife,
21 Wn. App. 2d 1003, 2022 WL 538366 (2022)24, 25

West v. Dep't of Fish & Wildlife,
Wn. App. 2d, 2022 WL 369984 (2022)22
West v. DOL,
182 Wn. App. 500, 331 P.3d 72 (2014)22, 23
West v. Thurston County,
144 Wn. App. 573, 183 P.3d 346 (2008)
Constitution
Wash. Const. art. 1, § 10
<u>Statutes</u>
RCW 42.30.030
RCW 42.56.03014
RCW 42.56.080(2)
RCW 42.56.100
RCW 42.56.550
RCW 42.56.550(2)
RCW 42.56.550(3)
RCW 44.48.15014
RCW 49.60.030
RCW 70.41.235
Rules
RAP 13.4(b)(1)
RAP 13.4(b)(2)
RAP 13.4(b)(4)
Other Authorities
University of Washington, 2018 Financial Report, https://finance.uw.edu/uwar/annualreport2018.pdf 27
1 1

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Dr. Jeremy Conklin requests that this Court grant review and reverse in part the opinion designated in section B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division I of the Court of Appeals issued an opinion in Cause No. 83200-0-1 on January 3, 2022 (appendix).

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. An agency has an obligation under the Public Records Act ("PRA") to make records "promptly available" and adopt policies that allow it to provide "the most timely possible action on requests for information." Neither "overbreadth" of the request nor "administrative inconvenience" is an excuse to these obligations. Is it a violation delay producing records sought under the PRA for 917, 307, and 206 days and delay producing instalments of records for hundreds of days thereafter?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Dr. Jeremy Conklin trained in osteopathic medicine after honorably serving in the Army and Air Force as a medical specialist and medical officer. He applied for a congenital cardiac surgery fellowship position with the University of Washington School of Medicine but was denied consideration simply because he was trained and board certified as an osteopath (DO) instead of an allopath (MD). CP 3, 1392. DOs serve as physicians in all fields of medicine and Washington law recognizes that a hospital "may not discriminate against a qualified doctor of osteopathic medicine and surgery." RCW 70.41.235.

Believing UW had unlawfully discriminated against him and committed antitrust violations, Dr. Conklin submitted three PRA requests seeking more information regarding UW's fellowship application practices. He made requests on November 17, 2017, May 12, 2018, and June 15, 2018, seeking information related to his rejected application for a congenital cardiac fellowship. CP 240-48, 343-47.

His first two requests were substantive, asking for application materials, training materials, and other information that might support his lawsuit. He also specifically sought contracts UW had with other organizations that would show its

anticompetitive conspiracy to exclude DO-trained physicians from its fellowships. CP 240-41, 246-48. Dr. Conklin's third request asked for documents and communications related to UW's ongoing failure to comply with the PRA. CP 249.

UW responded to Dr. Conklin's PRA requests by providing an estimate of time for producing responsive documents. But those estimates were not reasonable, and UW continuously increased them to unreasonably delay producing documents. The undisputed facts show that Dr. Conklin did not receive any records or exemption logs responsive to his PRA requests for 307 days, and UW unreasonably delayed between 131 to 917 days in providing installments of documents to Dr. Conklin. CP 343-47.

FIRST REQUEST: With respect to Dr. Conklin's first request, the stipulated facts show that UW did not release any records or exemption logs to Dr. Conklin until 307 days after he made his first request. CP 344. UW released a second installment 282 days later. *Id.* UW released a third installment

168 days later. CP 346. UW released a fourth installment 54 days later. *Id.* UW released a fifth installment 131 days later. *Id.* UW said that this was the final installment, but then it released a sixth and final installment 135 days after the fifth. *Id.*

SECOND REQUEST: With respect to Dr. Conklin's second request, UW did not release any records or exemption logs to Dr. Conklin until **917** days after he made his second request. CP 345. Although it said that this was the close of his request, UW provided another installment **169** days later. CP 1381-90.

THIRD REQUEST: With respect to Dr. Conklin's third request, UW did not release any records or exemption logs to Dr. Conklin until **206** days after he made his third request. CP 345. UW released a second installment **172** days later. *Id.* UW released a third and final installment 28 days later. *Id.* ¹

¹ Dr. Conklin challenges each of the bolded requests as an unreasonable time estimate/delay for producing records responsive to a PRA request. Because an agency has a duty to provide reasonable estimates for the first installment and every

Dr. Conklin immediately notified UW that its estimates of time needed to produce documents were unreasonable and that he would consider seeking fines and attorney fees under PRA. CP 242. He has maintained that **917**, **307**, **and 206 days** are not reasonable estimates of time to begin responding to a public records request, nor is it reasonable to delay **131 to 282 days** for subsequent installments.

In January 2018, Dr. Conklin sued UW in federal court asserting antitrust and antidiscrimination claims related to the fellowship program, along with claims for violating the PRA under state law. CP 82-95. UW knew the requested records were highly relevant to those claims, as Dr. Conklin's counsel reiterated multiple times to UW's counsel. CP 243-44, 1276-73.²

subsequent installment of records, each of these delays is a separate PRA violation.

² The timing of UW's PRA responses was suspect. For example, UW provided its first response to *any* of Dr. Conklin's requests *only after* UW moved to dismiss Dr. Conklin's federal claims *and after* briefing on that motion was completed. CP 238-55, 273-74, 343-47.

In November 2018, the federal court granted UW's motion to dismiss Dr. Conklin's federal claims. CP 1164-73. Dr. Conklin voluntarily dismissed and then refiled his PRA claims in King County Superior Court. CP 1-13.

The trial court, the Honorable Judge Ruhl, declined to rule for either party at the initial show cause hearing; instead, it ordered that the parties cooperate on a discovery plan/case schedule. CP 296-302. The parties agreed to bifurcate the trial by affidavit into liability and penalties phases. CP 303-05, 313-16. Thus, the trial court set a hearing on liability only. *Id*.

Eventually the trial court considered the case in a trial by affidavit in February 2021. RP 4-97.³ No witnesses testified. *Id.*; CP 1082-83. The parties submitted briefing and documentary support for their positions and argument via Zoom. CP 348-1081; RP 4-97.

³ Trial was delayed several times because of COVID-19 and other circumstances beyond Dr. Conklin's control. CP 317-36.

UW argued that the breadth and complexity of Dr. Conklin's requests, which potentially implicated various departments at UW, largely caused the delay. CP 357-59. But the record showed that identifying and gathering documents from different departments within UW was just a fraction of the delay in this case. UW's records officers gathered and provided thousands of pages of records to employees at its Office of Public Records ("OPR") (i.e., UW's internal department responsible for reviewing them and releasing them to the requestor), where they sat for many months, stretching into years, merely awaiting review for possible PRA exemptions and release. Some responsive records sat collected but unproduced for as long as 470 days in UW's OPR. Compare CP 388-92 (when and how many documents were gathered and sent to OPR) with 397-402 (when and how many documents were released).

UW also claimed that it delayed producing documents responsive to Dr. Conklin's second and third requests because of an unwritten policy that it will not respond to a second request

from the same requestor until it finishes the first. CP 396 ("If...OPR receives multiple separate requests submitted by the same requester at different times, OPR processes the requests in the order received, prioritizing its review of records responsive to the earliest request before moving to the subsequent requests."). Dr. Conklin pointed out that UW has the burden to adopt rules and procedures that "shall provide for the fullest assistance to inquirers and the most timely possible action on requests for information." RCW 42.56.100 (emphasis added). He argued that due to this unwritten policy, UW unreasonably delayed 917 days before providing any documents responsive to Dr. Conklin's second PRA request.⁴

Dr. Conklin also presented data that UW has the poorest track record of state agencies in responding to PRA requests.

⁴ As shown in cases like *Rufin v. City of Seattle*, 199 Wn. App. 348, 357, 398 P.3d 1237 (2017), *review denied*, 189 Wn.2d 1034 (2018), UW's practices are unreasonable where the state entity responded to several requests made by the same person *concurrently*.

Public agencies closed PRA requests in 16 days on average across Washington State. CP 538-95. While higher learning institutions may be slower to respond to PRA requests than other state agencies, taking 38 days on average to close a PRA request in 2018 (CP 587), UW took an average of 63 days in 2018 to complete a PRA request. CP 526-95. UW also admitted that it had the means and ability to hire outside companies to assist with large PRA requests and review documents for potential privileges and had done so in the past. CP 496-97. UW admitted that it had backlogs of 3.6 million documents that its nine OPR staff members needed to review. CP 390. Dr. Conklin argued that a muti-billion-dollar institution like UW needed to devote more resources to complying with the PRA. E.g., CP 227, 470, 1258; RP 18-19.

By the time the case was argued, UW had purportedly finished producing documents. Dr. Conklin noted that UW had not provided certain contracts he asked for in his first two PRA requests that mandated allopathic training of residents and

fellows. The trial court modified Dr. Conklin's complaint to include a claim for a PRA violation for UW's failure to search for and produce those contracts. CP 1086-88. Dr. Conklin could not raise this claim sooner because he had to wait for UW to finish its protracted responses before he could raise a claim that it had denied him records.

A few weeks later, UW "discovered" additional responsive records, versions of the contracts Dr. Conklin sought. CP 1356-67, 1381-96. Despite denying those agreements existed in federal court (CP 1151), those records were signed by Dr. Byron Joyner and apparently in the possession of Dr. Lester Permut, both participants in the federal lawsuit. CP 1359-61. UW also apparently ignored communications made by Dr. Conklin's council clarifying the agreements he was looking for and that they might be found at any of the departments or defendants within the University named in his lawsuit. CP 1280-81. Dr. Conklin argued that UW failed to conduct an adequate search and provide these contracts sooner. CP 1251-59, 1371-

79, 1410-15.

Eventually, the trial court ruled that UW was not liable for any PRA violation, neither its unreasonable time estimates/delays nor its failure to adequately search for the contracts Dr. Conklin sought. CP 1417-87. Dr. Conklin timely appealed. CP 1488-92.

On appeal, Division I affirmed and reversed in part. It correctly found that UW performed an inadequate search for the contracts Dr. Conklin sought that UW suddenly "discovered" during the PRA case. Op. 27-31. But Division I condoned UW's inordinate delays, holding that UW did not violate the PRA even though it delayed producing installments of records by as much as *917 days*. Op. 20-27.

Dr. Conklin's appeal was supported by *amicus curiae*, the Washington Coalition of Open Government, who confirmed that UW is among the slowest at producing records across the state. *Amicus* argued that greater guidance was needed to ensure that an agency cannot delay hundreds of days before providing initial

responses and in between providing installments of responsive records. *See generally, amicus* br. Those pleas went unanswered.

This timely petition follows.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED⁵

Review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4). Access to public records is an issue of substantial public importance under RAP 13.4(b)(4), and guidance from this Court is needed to ensure that agencies are not permitted to delay as much as 917 days before they begin providing documents responsive to PRA requests. Review is also appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) because no precedent supports delays as long as those condoned by Division I in this matter. Clear guidance is needed from this Court – an agency must begin

⁵ Should this Court grant review, its review would be *de novo*, as are all matters of liability under the PRA and matters decided solely on documentary evidence. *Doe G v. Dep't of Corr.*, 190 Wn.2d 185, 191, 410 P.3d 1156 (2018) (citing RCW 42.56.550(3)).

responding sooner than 917, 307, or 206 days to a PRA request, and it must provide additional installments in timely intervals. This is true even if an agency must devote more resources to complying with the PRA's commands.

Division I's outlier opinion will only embolden state agencies to shirk their duties under the PRA in violation of public policy and precedent. Review and reversal are warranted.

(1) The PRA Requires an Agency to Produce Records in a Timely Manner, and Ensuring Timely Access to Public Records Is an Issue of Substantial Public Importance

This case presents important questions of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4). Open access to government is a paramount interest of Washingtonians, and review by this Court is necessary to ensure that agencies release records promptly.

Open government is particularly important to the citizens of this State, as expressed many times in our Constitution and laws. *See, e.g., Seattle Times Co. v. Ishikawa*, 97 Wn.2d 30, 36,

640 P.2d 716, 719 (1982) (right to open courts) (citing Wash. Const. art. 1, § 10 ("Justice in all cases shall be administered openly")); RCW 42.30.030 ("All meetings of the governing body of a public agency shall be open and public"); RCW 44.48.150 (Legislature finding that providing transparent information to the public "contributes to governmental accountability, public participation, agency efficiency, and open government"). Consistent with this public policy, the PRA is one of the most important tools to ensure state government is open and accountable to the people.

By enacting the PRA, the Legislature declared:

The people...do not give their public servants the right to decide what is good for the people to know and what is not good for them to know. The people insist on remaining informed so that they may maintain control over the instruments that they have created.

RCW 42.56.030. "The purpose of the Act is to ensure the sovereignty of the people and the accountability of the governmental agencies that serve them." *Amren v. City of*

Kalama, 131 Wn.2d 25, 31, 929 P.2d 389 (1997). The PRA is liberally construed to "promote full disclosure of government activity that the people might know how their representatives have executed the public trust placed in them and so hold them accountable." *Spokane Research & Def. Fund v. City of Spokane*, 155 Wn.2d 89, 100, 117 P.3d 1117 (2005).

"The PRA provides a cause of action for two types of violations: (1) when an agency wrongfully denies an opportunity to inspect or copy a public record, or (2) when an agency has not made a reasonable estimate of the time required to respond to the request." *Andrews v. Washington State Patrol*, 183 Wn. App. 644, 651, 334 P.3d 94 (2014) (emphasis added). The burden of proof to show thorough and diligent compliance with the PRA is on the state agency, in this case UW. RCW 42.56.550. UW failed to meet that burden.

⁶ Because the citizens of this state have an absolute right to public records "it is not necessary for a party to show actual damages" to bring a PRA case. *Amren*, 131 Wn.2d at 36. Nor does RCW 42.56.550 require any finding of need for public

This Court has stated that "[i]t is...imperative that government agencies timely comply with the mandates of the P[R]A." Spokane Research, 155 Wn.2d at 100. "The PRA provides a cause of action...when an agency has not made a reasonable estimate of the time required to respond to the request." Andrews, 183 Wn. App. at 651 (citing RCW) 42.56.550(2)). "If public records do not fall within [designated] exemptions, their disclosure must be timely. Penalties for late disclosure are mandatory." West v. Thurston County, 144 Wn. App. 573, 581, 183 P.3d 346 (2008) (citing Spokane Research, 155 Wn.2d at 102). In determining whether an agency acted promptly in producing responsive records, courts must examine whether the agency's response was "thorough and diligent." Rufin, 199 Wn. App. at 357.

Aside from this case law, the PRA itself mandates that public agencies have an obligation to make records "promptly

records or harm caused by an agency's violation of the PRA. The right to receive public records promptly is absolute.

available," including providing them on an "installment basis as records that are part of a larger set of requested records are assembled or made ready for inspection or disclosure." RCW 42.56.080(2); see also, RCW 42.56.100 (requiring that an agency adopt disclosure procedures that "provide for the fullest assistance to inquirers and the most timely possible action on requests for information."). If an agency chooses to respond by providing installments, it must provide a reasonable time estimate for the first installment and every subsequent installment. Health Pros Nw., Inc. v. State, 10 Wn. App. 2d 605, 621, 449 P.3d 303 (2019), review denied, 194 Wn.2d 1025 (2020).

Division I was wrong to condone UW's delayed estimates and installment productions ranging from 131 to 917 days. An agency must begin to respond sooner than 917, 307, and 206 days to public records requests. And once it begins responding, it must produce regular installments sooner than 282, 172, 169, 168, 135, 131 as UW did here. These were unreasonable

estimate/production times where UW merely had to review gathered documents for exemptions and create a simple exemption log. *See*, *e.g.*, CP 417 (excerpt of simple spreadsheet-style exemption log UW produced).

Division I was wrong to condone these delays, buying UW's arguments that its delays were reasonable because it needed to create an exemption log and Dr. Conklin's requests were "of the broadest requests [one employee] had ever managed." Op. at 22. An agency is not excused for failure to timely comply with the PRA "on the basis that the request is overbroad." RCW 42.56.080(2). Likewise, "[a]dministrative inconvenience or difficulty does not excuse strict compliance with the PRA." Rental Hous. Ass'n v. City of Des Moines, 165 Wn.2d 525, 535, 199 P.3d 393 (2009); see also, RCW 42.56.550 ("Courts shall take into account the policy of this chapter that free and open examination of public records is in the public interest, even though such examination may cause inconvenience or embarrassment to public officials or others."). As discussed below, Division I cited *zero case law* condoning delays comparable to UW's because there is none.

Review is warranted by this Court to ensure that the public policy of openness does not bow to administrative difficulties. Agencies cannot stonewall record production because turning over information to the public is sometimes difficult. UW sat on documents it gathered for hundreds of days failing to produce them because they needed exemption review. As discussed below, that is unreadable given the plethora of case law in this state.

Condoning UW's delays is also terrible public policy, and review is necessary to ensure the public's interest in access to open records is preserved. Indeed, the public information in this very case, UW's application practices, has many relevant uses to the public interest. For example, the data Dr. Conklin sought would be vital toward educational or lobbying efforts to improve access to training for a class of physicians the Legislature has protected from discriminatory hiring. RCW 70.41.235.

Issues of discriminatory hiring are particularly important to the people of this state, as evidenced by laws like RCW 49.60.030 (Washington Law Against Discrimination), which gives Washingtonians the "right to obtain and hold employment without discrimination" and RCW 70.41.235 itself which prevents a hospital from "discriminat[ing] against a qualified doctor of osteopathic medicine and surgery." Timely access to public records is vital to monitor and enforce such rights.

UW has cast Dr. Conklin as a jilted applicant using the PRA to get his "pound of flesh" from UW. CP 361. Not only is this derogatory language irrelevant, where the right to examine public records is absolute. But by condoning it, Division I made it more difficult for all Washingtonians to uncover important public information, including information related to hiring discrimination. If Division I's opinion is allowed to stand, it is not hard to imagine UW or some other agency stonewalling a more regular requestor like the Seattle Times seeking information about an inflammatory story or a discriminatory

practice, delaying production for hundreds of days when advantageous to wait out the news cycle. That is untenable.

Review is appropriate to ensure the public's substantial interest in access to public records is respected. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

(2) <u>Division I's Opinion Either Conflicts with</u>

<u>Precedent or New Precedent Is Needed to Ensure</u>

<u>Agencies Begin Responding More Promptly Than</u>

917, 307, or 206 Days

Review is also appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) because Division I's opinion conflicts with existing precedent. The delays condoned in this case are complete outliers among the precedent of this state. Every case has unique facts, but Division I's is an outlier to the point of conflict that this Court should resolve.

Just months ago, Division III issued *Cantu v. Yakima Sch. Dist. No.* 7, 23 Wn. App. 2d 57, 514 P.3d 661 (2022), holding that a school district was liable for delaying PRA production for 172 days, forcing requestor to file a PRA complaint. Division III held that "administrative inconvenience or difficulty in

producing records does not excuse [agency's] lack of diligence" nor does "insufficient allocation of resources and lack of priorities." *Id.* at 95. Here, too, UW was content to sit on already gathered documents for hundreds of days because it lacked the resources or devoted priorities necessary to get them out the door sooner. This conflict cannot stand.

Zero case law supports UW's position that its long delays in providing records on an installment basis were reasonable. *See*, *e.g.*, *Hikel v. City of Lynnwood*, 197 Wn. App. 366, 369, 389 P.3d 677 (2016) (agency began producing documents responsive to largest request it ever received within 45 days); *West v. Dep't of Fish & Wildlife*, __ Wn. App. 2d __, 2022 WL 369984, at *1 (2022) (agency had to review over 10 gigabytes worth of data to review for a large request, but it began producing records within 71 days and sent five installments of records around one every 30 to 60 days).⁷

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