FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/6/2023 8:47 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 1016891-1

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JEREMY CONKLIN, DO, an individual,

Appellant,

v.

UNIVERSITY OF WASHINGTON SCHOOL OF MEDICINE, a Washington public educational institution; UNIVERSITY OF WASHINGTON MEDICINE, a Washington public health system; and UNIVERSITY OF WASHINGTON MEDICAL CENTER, a Washington public hospital,

Respondents.

# University of Washington, et al. Response to Petition for Discretionary Review

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

### IV. ARGUMENT

The Court should deny review. Conklin does not raise any question of substantial public importance, and the decisions in the Court of Appeals and Superior Court follow precedent in concluding that UW properly responded to Conklin's requests.

# A. Conklin's Petition Lacks Issues of Substantial Public Importance.

This lawsuit, a run-of-the-mill PRA case, poses no issues meriting this Court's review. Conklin invokes RAP 13.4(b)(4), which supports review "only.... [i]f the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." Conklin's Petition presents no such issue.

First, Conklin contends that the importance of "[o]pen government" justifies review, but if that were enough, the Court would *always* review cases implicating the PRA. To the contrary, this Court routinely denies review in PRA cases that, like Conklin's, necessarily implicate access to public records.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>~ - . . -</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See, e.g., Freedom Found. v. DSHS, 194 Wn.2d 1017, 455 P.3d 133 (2020) (table) (denying review of PRA case); Zink v. City of Mesa, 192 Wn.2d 1004, 430 P.3d 251 (2018) (table) (same); White v. Clark Cnty., 185 Wn.2d 1009, 366 P.3d 1245 (2016) (table) (same); Kozol v. King Cnty., 183 Wn.2d 1021, 355 P.3d 1152 (2015) (table) (same); West v. Gregoire, 182 Wn.2d 1018, 345 P.3d 784 (2015) (table) (same); Faulkner v. Dep't of Corr., 182 Wn.2d 1004, 342 P.3d 327 (2015) (table) (same); Gale v. City of Seattle, 181 Wn.2d 1004, 332 P.3d 984 (2014) (table) (same); Gronquist v. Dep't of Corr., 180 Wn.2d 1004, 321 P.3d 1207 (2014) (table) (same); Bartz v. Dep't of Corr., 177 Wn.2d

This Court even denied review in five of the PRA cases on which Conklin relies for his merits argument. See Health Pros Nw., *Inc. v. State*, 194 Wn.2d 1025, 456 P.3d 396 (2020) (table) (denying review on timeliness of agency's 12-year response time estimate); Rufin v. City of Seattle, 189 Wn.2d 1034, 407 P.3d 1152 (2018) (table) (denying review regarding burdens and attorneys' fees issues); Andrews v. Wash. State Patrol, 182 Wn.2d 1011, 343 P.3d 760 (2015) (table) (denying review on the "flexible approach" under the PRA); West v. Dep't of Licensing, 181 Wn.2d 1027, 339 P.3d 634 (2014) (table) (denying review on interpretation of PRA exemptions); Forbes v. City of Gold Bar, 177 Wn.2d 1002, 300 P.3d 415 (2013) (table) (denying review in PRA case). Indeed, two of these cases raised questions about the timeliness of an agency's production of documents under the PRA—just as Conklin does here. See Pet. for Review, Health Pros Nw., Inc. v. State, No. 97775-5, at 3-4 (Wash. Oct.

<sup>1024, 309</sup> P.3d 504 (2013) (table) (same); *Germeau v. Mason Cnty.*, 174 Wn.2d 1010, 281 P.3d 686 (2012) (table) (same).

17, 2019); Pet. for Review, *Andrews v. Washington State Patrol*, No. 90943-1, at 1 (Wash. Oct. 29, 2014). The Court nonetheless denied review, demonstrating that the sort of argument Conklin raises here does not present an issue of substantial public importance.

Second, nothing about Conklin's Petition raises the kind public-interest question supporting of review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). This Court grants review under that rule only in limited circumstances, such as where an appeal implicates an ongoing public issue, especially one of public safety. See, e.g., In re Williams, 197 Wn.2d 1001, 484 P.3d 445, 447 (2021) (table) (substantial public interest in "the department's efforts in responding to th[e] constantly changing threat" of COVID-19 in correctional facilities); In re Arnold, 189 Wn.2d 1023, 408 P.3d 1091, 1092 (2017) (table) (granting review where Court of Appeals' "likely incorrect holdings ... affect public safety by removing an entire class of sex offenders from the registration requirements"). UW's response to Conklin's request is complete, and it does not create or pertain to any ongoing issue—much less one of substantial public interest.

That "the data Dr. Conklin sought would be vital toward educational or lobbying efforts to improve access to training for" DOs, *see* Petition for Review (Pet.) at 19, makes no difference. Undisputedly, Conklin has received all responsive, non-exempt records, and he or anyone else may review them for any purpose. This Court's review is not necessary to achieve that end—nor to combat the amorphous "[i]ssues of discriminatory hiring" Conklin suggests may be implicated, *see id.* at 20.

Nor does this case present any issues that are likely to recur. This Court sometimes reviews cases under RAP 13.4(b)(4) where the trial court's decision "has the potential to affect a number of proceedings in the lower courts," "if review will avoid unnecessary litigation and confusion on a common issue." *In re Flippo*, 185 Wn.2d 1032, 380 P.3d 413, 413-14 (2016) (table) (granting petition with many similar cases pending); *see also State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122

P.3d 903 (2005) (granting petition as a "prime example of an issue of substantial public interest," where a decision "has the potential to affect every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County after November 26, 2001, where [the applicable] sentence was or is at issue").

Conklin's appeal raises only the fact-dependent issue of the reasonableness of UW's estimates of time for its response to his requests. See Pet. at 1. "[W]hether an agency complies with the PRA is a fact specific inquiry and must be decided on a caseby-case basis." Andrews v. Wash. State Patrol, 183 Wn. App. 644, 653, 334 P.3d 94 (2014), review denied, 182 Wn.2d 1011, 343 P.3d 760 (2015). The Court's review of Conklin's case accordingly would be limited to the facts here and would provide no "sweeping implications" or rules that would provide guidance for any other case. Watson, 155 Wn.2d at 578. There is no continuing and substantial public interest "in statutory or regulatory cases that are limited on their facts." Hart v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 111 Wn.2d 445, 449, 759 P.2d 1206

(1988). Discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) is not warranted.

# B. The Court of Appeals' Decision Follows Precedent on PRA Response Timeliness.

Conklin also seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), *see* Pet. at 21-29, but the Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with this Court's precedent and other Court of Appeals decisions. Far from being "an outlier to the point of conflict," Pet. at 21, the decisions below followed the cases Conklin cites.

First, as the Court of Appeals noted, "Conklin's reliance on various cases for reasonable response times is not helpful as he ignores the context" of the requests in those cases, none of which "declared as a matter of law that a number of days to respond to a request without considering context sets a threshold of reasonable time estimates for release." Op. at \*9 (discussing Wade's Eastside Gun Shop, Inc. v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 185 Wn.2d 270, 289, 372 P.3d 97 (2016); Rufin v. City of Seattle, 199 Wn. App. 348, 351, 398 P.3d 1237 (2017), Hikel v. City of

Lynnwood, 197 Wn. App. 366, 373, 389 P.3d 677 (2016)); see id. at \*11 (discussing Cantu v. Yakima Sch. Dist. No. 7, 23 Wn. App. 2d 57, 514 P.3d 661 (2022)).

Conklin continues to rely on many of these same cases, and his argument fares no better now. In *Hikel*, 197 Wn. App. at 369, the City "violated the PRA because it did not include any reasonable estimate when records would be provided" in its initial response. (Emphasis added). But there is no question UW provided and updated its time estimates. In *Cantu*, Division III affirmed the trial court's verdict that a school district's "lack of diligence amounted to a denial" of a request, where the district failed to send a five-day letter, ignored the requester's inquiries, failed to communicate after having missed its compliance date, provided false information, sent an "empty Google directory" as its records release, and "d[id] not appear [to be] diligently working on any of" the requests with which it claimed to be overwhelmed. Cantu, 23 Wn. App. 2d at 94-96. But there is no question UW worked on its response to Conklin's request throughout the response period, communicating updates and balancing work on Conklin's requests with work on other requests.

West v. Department of Licensing, 182 Wn. App. 500, 331 P.3d 72 (2014), does not help Conklin either. The court there found the agency complied with the PRA by responding in installments over ten months. West does not set an outer limit for reasonable estimates of time, and indeed, the court explicitly embraced the agency's iterative response to a "complex and broad" request, much like the approach UW took in this case. See id. at 513-14 ("Additional time was necessary to locate and assemble the information requested, to notify third persons or agencies affected..., and to determine whether any of the information requested was exempt.").

Second, no court has ever embraced Conklin's position that the PRA mandates a specific time for responding to requests or a certain dedication of resources—or the position of amicus

WCOG, who argues for a *per se* standard for timeliness.<sup>4</sup> Br. of Amicus WCOG at 9. Instead, courts "examine whether the agency's response was thorough and diligent," "a fact-specific inquiry." *Freedom Found.*, 9 Wn. App. 2d at 673. *See also* Op. at \*10 ("While we know of no case that limits what can be considered in determining whether a given estimate is reasonable," precedent does not hold "that agencies violate the PRA when they do not adjust their budget or staffing to accommodate an overwhelming public records request while actively responding to multiple requests.").

Nor *should* the Court adopt Conklin's groundbreaking argument. Agencies vary widely in size, primary purposes, and

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Conklin suggests the Court of Appeals incorrectly found he waived any argument regarding the sufficiency of the resources UW dedicates to its PRA obligations because he did not raise it until his reply brief, *see* Pet. at 28-29 n.9. While Conklin has consistently argued UW should have devoted additional resources to respond to his PRA requests, he did not previously assert that not doing so constitutes a standalone PRA violation. The Court of Appeals addressed Conklin's argument about resources as it pertains to this case.

resources. *See* RCW 42.56.010 (broadly defining "Agency"). And the PRA directs that agencies fulfill their obligations in a way that "prevent[s] excessive interference with other essential functions." RCW 42.56.100. In any event, the PRA itself explains that extended time to respond may be necessary. RCW 42.56.520(2) ("Additional time required to respond to a request may be based upon the need to clarify the intent of the request, to locate and assemble the information requested, to notify third persons or agencies affected by the request, or to determine whether any of the information requested is exempt....").

The time to respond to a public records request will vary, for example, by the agency; the nature of request; and the type, quantity, and characteristics of the documents at issue. *See, e.g.*, *Anderson v. Spokane Police Dep't*, 182 Wn. App. 1025, 2014 WL 3929161, at \*8 (July 17, 2014) (PRA response time "reasonable based upon its resources and amount of work" considering "increasing public demands upon government

employees, with a decreasing public desire to pay for the cost of the demands") (unpublished) (UW cites this and other unpublished opinions under GR 14.1(a) as nonbinding but persuasive authority.). Courts cannot and should not intercede agencies' budgetary or resource-management decisions balancing their PRA obligations with other essential functions. And courts never have: by evaluating the reasonableness of an agency's estimate of time to respond to a request, courts take into account the anticipated burden on the agency of completing its response—instead of any backward-looking assessment of how long a response ultimately takes. Freedom Found., 9 Wn. App. 2d at 667. This approach avoids interposing the courts as arbiters over an agency's management of its competing priorities, a role for which the courts are ill suited.

The rule Conklin proposes would upset decades of settled precedent and contravene the PRA itself. There is no basis for Conklin's proposed test, and the Court should deny review.

# V. CONCLUSION

For these reasons, the Court should deny review.

This document contains 4,954 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.